IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

۱

CASE NO. 72,471

LAUREL D. SCHUTZ,

Petitioner,

vs.

RICHARD R. SCHUTZ,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

LAW OFFICES OF MARSHA B. ELSER 44 West Flagler Street Suite 1575, Courthouse Tower Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 577-0090

-and-

LAW OFFICES OF FRUMKES AND GREENE, P.A. 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Suite 1607, New World Tower Miami, Florida 33132-2380 (305) 371-5600

Attorneys for Petitioner

FRUMKES & GREENE, P.A.

INTRODUCTION

In the District Court of Appeal, Third District, the Petitioner, LAUREL D. SCHUTZ, was the Appellant and the Respondent, RICHARD R. SCHUTZ, was the Appellee.

In this brief, the Petitioner shall be referred to as "the Wife" and the Respondent shall be referred to as "the Husband" and the symbol "App" shall be utilized to refer to the Appendix. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner/Wife, respectfully submits that this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review this case both because the opinion of the District Court expressly construes a provision of the Constitution of the United States and because the District Court's opinion directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Coca-Cola Company, Food Division, Polk</u> <u>County v. State, 406 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1982).</u>

In its decision herein, the District Court opined that a trial court may compel a parent to express opinions and make statements about the other parent even where such opinions are not held by the parent to whom the order is directed. The District Court expressly found no First Amendment impediment to such an order.

The Petitioner submits that, in view of the foregoing, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, but, in addition, the Petitioner believes that the District Court's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of this Court in <u>Coca-Cola</u>, supra., in which this Court held:

> [T]he state may never force one to adopt or express a particular opinion (Id. at 1087).

Such conflict gives rise to this Court's jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

-2-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The events leading up to the decision sought to be reviewed herein commenced in 1985 with a series of post-dissolution of marriage motions filed on behalf of both the Husband and Wife. The Husband sought to have the Wife held in contempt of court, sought a modification of child custody and sought to have his liability for past-due child support payments determined by the court. The Wife sought to have the Husband held in contempt of court for his failure to pay of child support over a period of many years and sought a modification of visitation.

At issue in all of these motions was the subject of visitation between the Husband and the children. The Husband had not visited with the children for many years and, at the time of the hearing before the trial court, the children expressed great hostility towards him. In essence, then, the underlying issues were whether the Wife was at fault for the fact that the Husband had not visited with the children and, if so, was that fault sufficient to permit a discharge of the child support owed and unpaid or, was it the Husband who failed to visit with his children, failed to pay child support and contributed to his children's dislike of him by his own actions?

The trial court found that the children's hostility toward the Husband was the result of the Wife's actions. Based upon this finding of fact, the trial court held that there were no legally existing child support arrearages. The trial court also held as follows:

-3-

It shall be the obligation of the Mother [Wife] to do everything in her power to create in the minds of [the children] a loving, caring feeling toward the Father [Husband]. It shall be the Mother's obligation to convince the children that it is the Mother's desire that they see their Father and love their Father. Breach of this paragraph either in words, actions, demeanor, implication or otherwise, will call for the severest penalities this Court can impose, including Contempt, Imprisonment, Loss of residential custody or any combination thereof. (App. 19-20)

The Wife appealed from this judgment to the District Court of Appeal, Third District, which affirmed the trial court's order in a two-to-one decision rendered February 9, 1988. Rehearing was denied on April 25, 1988.

The majority opinion held that the First Amendment of the United States Constitution did not prohibit the type of order issued herein because "the mere fact that speech or associational activities are involved does not render words or conduct inviolate from governmental control in the name of the first amendment". The majority concluded:

> If it is wrong falsely to shout fire in a crowded theater . . . it is just as wrong for the [Wife] to refuse affirmatively to encourage the relationship between these children and this parent. (App. 12)

The dissent disagreed, finding the trial court's order violative of the Wife's First Amendment rights of freedom of speech and expression:

> By this order, the trial judge had sought to compel the Wife to lessen the hostility she instilled in the children toward their father. The order, however, produces an impermissible result in that it compels the Wife to exceed the legal duty to encourage visitation which she, as a custodial parent, owes the noncustodial parent. The language in the order

requires the wife to express opinions she does not hold. This is an infringement on the wife's first amendment rights of freedom of speech and expression. (App. 14)

Notice of the invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, was filed on May 20, 1988.

.

.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES A PROVISION OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES

The Wife herein, in her appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Third District, contended that the trial court's order constituted a "denial of [her] first amendment rights of freedom of speech and expression". She further argued that the order itself was "overbroad, vague, arbitrary, inflexible and impossible of enforcement".

The District Court addressed these issues by construing the First Amendment as allowing the entry of an order compelling the expression of certain opinions where the "best interest" of children might require that they hear such opinions:

> The only properly considered issue in this case concerns the best interests of the children. Our knowledge of the parent-child relationship reveals, and therefore our law says, that children are entitled to a warm and loving affinity with both their parents. Because of this fact, a custodian such as the [Wife] has an "affirmative obligation" to encourage and nurture the relationship between the children and the non-custodial parent.

> > *

*

The order in question - particularly that aspect to which the [Wife] most objects - the requirement that she attempt to raise her daughters' opinion of their father to one she herself does not hold is in entire accordance with these principles and is therefore plainly substantively correct.

*

Nor, it should be unnecessary to say, is the [Wife] "protected" by the first amendment from a requirement that she fulfill her legal obligation to undo the harm she had already caused and to vindicate the interests with which she should be most concerned those of her daughters rather than her own personal ones. It is axiomatic that the mere fact that speech or associational activities are involved does not render words or conduct inviolate from governmental control in the name of the first amendment. Such rights are not "subject to analysis in terms of absolute[;] . . all basic rights of free speech are subject to reasonable regulation".

As one might expect, since the welfare of children is the concern which the law places perhaps the greatest emphasis of all, this principle has been widely applied to bar reliance upon the first amendment by a parent whose otherwise protectable conduct runs counter to the best interest of his or her child. (App. 9-12)

*

In brief, the District Court's opinion herein holds that the First Amendment permits the state to order an individual to express opinions which he or she may not hold if the state deems that the individual's so doing will be in the "best interest" of a child. Although the Wife strongly opposes such an interpretation of the First Amendment, it is nevertheless clear that the District Court did expressly construe this provision of the Constitution and, therefore, this Court has jurisdiction to review this case.¹

¹By her disagreement with the District Court's interpretation of the First Amendment the Wife does not intend to demean in any way the importance of protecting the "best interest" of children. It is a fact, however, that a good many of the wrongs in the world are perpetrated under lofty banners and in the name of noble purposes.

ARGUMENT

II.

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT IN <u>COCA-COLA COMPANY, FOOD DIVISION,</u> POLK COUNTY V. STATE, 406 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1982).

In <u>Coca-Cola Company, Food Division, Polk County v. State</u>, 406 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1982), the Coca-Cola Company contended that a requirement that certain citrus products bear a specific label violated their First Amendment rights. The Coca-Cola Company contended that, "the state may not tell anyone what to say or think". This Court, although finding that the labeling rule in question did not violate free speech, did agree that:

> [T]he state may <u>never</u> force one to adopt or express a particular opinion. (<u>Id</u>. at 1087, emphasis supplied).

In so finding, this Court relied upon the decision of the Supreme Court of the United States in <u>West Virginia State Board</u> <u>of Education v. Barnette</u>, 319 U.S. 624, 642, 63 S.Ct. 1178, 1187, 87 L.Ed. 1628 (1943), and quoted the following language:

> If there is any fixed star in our constitutional constellation, it is that no official, high or petty, can prescribe what shall be orthodox in politics, nationalism, religion, or other matters of opinion or force citizens to confess by word or act their faith therein. If there are any circumstances which permit an exception, they do not now occur to us. (Id. at 1087)

In the instant case, the District Court of Appeal affirmed a judgment of the trial court which, contrary to the admonition in Coca-Cola, requires the Wife to "express a particular opinion".

-8-

The Wife must, on pain of "contempt, imprisonment, loss of residential custody or any combination thereof", do "everything in her power" to "convince" the children of certain things whether she believes them to be true or not.

The majority opinion of the District Court of Appeal affirmed this order upon the basis of a series of cases holding that derogatory speech may be prohibited where the welfare of children is involved. This case, however, did not and does not concern an order that certain things not be said but, rather, concerns an order requiring that certain things must be said and certain opinions must be expressed. The Wife is not being enjoined from disparaging someone; she is being mandated to speak well of someone. This is a crucial distinction noted by the dissent herein:

> I believe the quoted language in the portion of the opinion in question has the effect of prescribing what opinion the wife must hold and express with regard to her former husband. This language infringes on the wife's freedom of speech and expression as guaranteed by the First Amendment... (App. 14)

There is not a single authority within the state of Florida which permits the judiciary to instruct the citizenry of this state as to what they must say in particular circumstances. The only authority on this subject is this Court's opinion in <u>Coca-Cola</u> which holds that the state may "never force one to adopt or express a particular opinion." As such, the decision herein expressly and directly conflicts with the Coca-Cola decision and

-9-

this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the District Court's Opinion.

.

.

CONCLUSION

Upon the foregoing argument and authority, the Petitioner requests that this Court grant discretionary review in this case.