IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 72,471

LAUREL D. SCHUTZ,

Petitioner,

1111 25 1938

vs.

RICHARD R. SCHUTZ,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ANDREW M. LEINOFF, P.A. 1500 San Remo Avenue

Suite 206

Coral Gables, Florida 33146

305/661-1556

ANDREW M. LEINOFF

Attorneys for Respondent

INTRODUCTION

In the District Court of Appeal, Third District, the Petitioner, LAUREL D. SCHUTZ, was the Appellant, and the Respondent, RICHARD R. SCHUTZ, was the Appellee.

In this brief, the Petitioner shall be referred to by name "the former Wife." The Respondent shall be referred to name "the former Husband." The symbols for reference used in the Petitioner's brief will be adopted in this brief also.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The former Husband respectfully submits that this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review this case. The opinions of the Trial Court and of the District Court of Appeal conclusively demonstrate that this Court's conflict jurisdiction does not exist in this case, and that the Order and Opinion constitute a permissible interpretation the Constitution of the United States, expressly warranted by the facts of this case.

The Petitioner asserts that the District Court's opinion "may compel a parent to express opinions and make statements about the other parent even where such opinions are not held by the parent to whom the order is directed." That assertion is an inaccurate interpretation of the District Court's pronouncement. Rather, the Third District Court of Appeal held that: "it is just as wrong for the appellant to refuse affirmatively to encourage the relationship between these children and this parent." The construction of the Opinion upon which the Petitioner relies to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction is not found the face of this Opinion. Accordingly, conflict jurisdiction does not exist.

Additionally, this Court's discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, is not warranted. The Trial Court's Order and the District Court's opinion do no more than compel the Petitioner to remedy damage to the Constitutionally protective relationship between the children and the non-resident parent. The Trial Court and the District

Court of Appeal both found the Petitioner to be the sole cause of this damage, and the Order and Opinion under review merely directed her to undo the damage that she alone caused. The relationship between the children and the non-resident parent is constitutionally protected, and entitled to great deference vis-avis the Petitioner's competing claims.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE IS A PROPER INTERPRETATION OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES

The Third District Court of Appeal summarized this case as follows:

"this is an Appeal by the Custodian Mother/Former Wife from a Post Dissolution Order on Child Support and Visitation, which had been made been made necessary by fallout from the Appellant's assiduous unfortunately largely successful efforts both to secrete physically the parties' two daughters from their father and to poison their hearts and minds against him. of the points asserted for reversal have any merit. find it appropriate to discuss only one point: what we regard as the baseless claim that the requirement that she instruct the children to love and respect their father violates her rights to free speech." [Notes omitted].

The Third District Court of Appeal found the former Wife's claims entirely baseless. The Court expressly found that it was wrong for the former Wife to refuse to affirmatively encourage the relationship between the minor children and the non-custodial parent, and that the lower Court properly ordered her to do so.

The District Court of Appeal's interpretation of the First Amendment is entirely correct. Although the former Wife has yet to acknowledge the fundamental notion that the relationship between the minor children and their father is constitutionally protected, it is clear that the Trial Court's Order does no more than what is necessary to protect this relationship. Moreover, it is fundamental that the rights of both parents must be balanced

against the rights of their children's right to an adequate home and education. In the matter of S.D. Jr., 549 P. 2d 1190, 1201, (Alaska 1976). That opinion demonstrates that it is proper to compel either or both parents to take specified actions when their Constitutional Rights must be balanced against the Constitutional Rights of the minor children. In that case, the parents were required to encourage their children to attend school. The alternative faced by the parents was the possibility of loosing custody of their children. The Supreme Court of Alaska found that parents may properly be ordered to take the specified actions, despite their conflicting Constitutional Rights to the care and custody of their children.

The court in this case did no more than balance the former Wife's First Amendments claims against the rights of the former Husband and the minor children, while explicitly recognizing the Court's duty toward those minor children. The effect of the District Court of Appeals Opinion is to require the former Wife to take those steps necessary to undue the damage that she alone has caused to the minor children and the non custodial parent. The facts of this case clearly demonstrate the propriety of the Orders under review. This Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the Opinion of the District Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

II.

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT IN COCA COLA COMPANY, FOOD DIVISION, POLK COUNTY VS. STATE, 406 So. 2d, 1079 (Fla 1982).

In <u>Coca-Cola Company</u>, <u>Food Division vs. State</u>, <u>406 So. 2d 1079</u> (1982), this Court recognized that, with respect to a First Amendment interest, competing interests must be balanced against the interest served by the regulation. This Court's discussion involved commercial speech, and the Court's opinion specified as follows: "when there is a First Amendment interest at stake in commercial speech, that interest must be balanced against the public interest served by the regulations." <u>Coca-Cola</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 1088.

The Opinion of the Trial Court and the District Court of Appeal clearly balanced the competing interests that are at stake. The former Wife, through her conduct prior to the proceedings and throughout the pendency of these proceedings, has clearly demonstrated that under no circumstances will she recognize the Constitutionally protected interests of the minor children and the former Husband. The former Wife's continual refusal to recognize these interests conclusively demonstrates that the Order and Opinion under review are the only means to balance the competing interests represented by the former Wife's freedom of speech and the rights of the minor children and the former Husband. The

former Wife's adamant refusal to recognize these competing interests demonstrates that nothing less than the Opinion and Order under review can effectively protect these interests.

Moreover, this issue is only reached by a tortured interpretation of the Opinion and Order under review. The former Wife is required to do no more than to affirmatively encourage the relationship between the children and their parent. This Order would be unnecessary but for the former Wife's egregious conduct. She is solely responsible for creating the situation which now exists between the minor children and the former Husband. Accordingly, the Trial Court and the District Court of Appeal correctly placed the onus upon the former Wife to remedy this situation.

The Appellant's competing interests envisioned by this Court in the <u>Coca-Cola</u> case are clearly found in the <u>District Court of Appeals' Opinion</u>. Accordingly, it is clear that there is no conflict between that Opinion and the <u>Coca-Cola Opinion</u>. This Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Upon the foregoing argument and authority, the Respondent requests that this Court decline to review this case.